### CHRONIC DRUG EXPOSURES DURING DEVELOPMENT IN NONHUMAN PRIMATES: MODELS OF BRAIN DYSFUNCTION IN HUMANS

#### Merle G. Paule

Head, Behavioral Toxicology Laboratories, Division of Neurotoxicology, HFT-132, FDA's National Center for Toxicological Research, 3900 NCTR Road, Jefferson, Arkansas 72079-9502

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Methods of assessing complex brain function in nonhuman primates: Objectivity, automation and repeated measures
  - 3.1. Functional Domains
    - 3.1.1. Motivation
    - 3.1.2. Visual and Position Discrimination
    - 3.1.3. Learning
    - 3.1.4. Short-term Memory
    - 3.1.5. Time perception
- 4. Relevance to the human experience.
- 5. Specific examples of deranged brain function after developmental drug exposure
  - 5.1 Marijuana and Amotivation
  - 5.2 Cocaine
    - 5.2.1. Pharmacological Challenges
    - 5.2.2. Age-related sensitivity to dopaminergic compounds
    - 5.2.3. Behavioral rigidity
  - 5.3 Remacemide
    - 5.3.1. Chemically-induced mental retardation
- 6. Perspective
- 7. Acknowledgements
- 8. References

### 1. ABSTRACT

This review of our work presents three specific examples of how nonhuman primates (rhesus monkeys, Macaca mulatta) have been used to study the effects of chronic drug exposures on brain function during different stages of development. In all cases, exposure levels similar to those experienced by humans were employed and the focus was on long-term--not acute--effects. In the case of the marijuana studies, exposures occurred during the adolescent period; for the cocaine studies, exposures occurred in binge-like fashion entirely before birth (in utero); and for the remacemide studies, exposures occurred daily in juveniles, prior to adolescence. An automated battery of behavioral tasks, the National Center for Toxicological Research Operant Test Battery (NCTR OTB), designed to assess aspects of motivation, visual discrimination, time perception, short-term memory, and learning, was used to monitor treatment effects. Chronic

marijuana smoke exposure resulted in an 'amotivational' syndrome--even in weekend-only smokers--that resolved within three months of exposure cessation. In utero cocaine exposure was shown to cause behavioral rigidity or lack of plasticity as evidenced by the difficulty of subjects to adjust to rules changes for some OTB tasks. These effects were seen in adult subjects suggesting that the effects of gestational cocaine exposure are long-term or permanent. In addition, animals exposed to cocaine in utero were less sensitive to the behaviorally-disrupting effects of cocaine as adults. Remacemide caused profound and long-lasting, perhaps permanent, changes in learning task performance and because performance of this same task by children is significantly correlated with traditional measures of intelligence (IQ), these data suggest that such treatment may provide a valuable model of chemicallyinduced mental retardation.

### 2. INTRODUCTION

A primary assumption of this review is that for many aspects of biomedical research the need for animal models is absolute. Animal models are required preclinically in drug-discovery processes and in studies of safety pharmacology and toxicology. Animal models are also used to study disease processes and interventions and to determine the safety of environmental chemicals. Sometimes conditions resulting from drug or chemical exposures in animals can form the basis for the development of important new animal models. We believe this especially to be the case in our studies of remacemide exposures during preadolescence.

In an ideal world, drug efficacy and toxicity and chemical safety would be well established using appropriate animal models under well-controlled experimental conditions before the occurrence of human exposures. This is not always possible, however, so studies on safety and toxicity are often conducted in animals in parallel with human use. The continued need for animal studies in the presence of human exposures results from the general impossibility of conducting definitive human studies. For example, the difficulties in demonstrating effects of *in utero* drug exposures in human offspring have been attributed—in the case of cocaine for example-- to difficulties in the techniques of measurement which preclude accurate determination of the type, dose, and pattern of drug use (1-5) and to difficulties in controlling for a wide range of potentially confounding variables, such as other drug use, race, socioeconomic status, and level of prenatal care (1, 3, 5). Such limitations can seriously undermine assessments in humans concerning the effects of chronic drug exposure on growth and development and more recent studies are taking these potential confounds into consideration (e.g., (6, 7)).

Computer models and in vitro systems simply do not approach the requisite complexity of whole organisms and therefore cannot replace them. If one were to generate an artificial model that could adequately simulate a complete animal, the model would be essentially the animal that it was designed to mimic. Nonhuman animals are more similar to humans than they are dissimilar and as such they can effectively serve as reasonable surrogates. The proximity of nonhuman primates to humans on the phylogenetic tree generally qualifies them as the model that most closely approximates the human condition. The ethical use of nonhuman primates for research purposes has been eloquently addressed in detail (8). This greater similarity to humans can be very important especially if one is trying to model human attributes that are not readily observable in other animals. For example, the tissues associated with placentation and the cycles of reproductive hormones observed in nonhuman primates are very similar to those of humans as are their complex social structures, prolonged nursing periods and life-span. This is not so with most non-primates. The focus of this review will be on complex brain function after long-term drug exposures during development, areas of research for which the nonhuman primate is likely the most appropriate animal surrogate for humans. The tasks currently being used to assess complex brain function in nonhuman primates have been shown to have direct relevance for, if not direct equivalence in, humans (9). In addition, nonhuman primate metabolism in general, as well as drug metabolism and disposition in particular, are often very similar to that seen in humans. And importantly, the developmental trajectory for nonhuman primates, particularly the rhesus monkey that will be highlighted here, is very similar to that of humans, not only in terms of developmental milestones but also in terms of time-course.

# 3. METHODS OF ASSESSING COMPLEX BRAIN FUNCTION IN NONHUMAN PRIMATES: OBJECTIVITY, AUTOMATION AND REPEATED MEASURES

About two decades ago, during preparations for a large scale monkey study in which some of the primary endpoints of interest were aspects of complex brain function, a battery of operant behavioral tasks was developed (see (9, 10-13). This instrument has since become known as the National Center for Toxicological Research (NCTR) Operant Test Battery or OTB. The term operant simply means that subjects have to operate something in their environment (in this case response levers or press-plates) in order to obtain reinforcers (in our case. banana-flavored food pellets). Operant tasks require some degree of training and therefore differ from untrained, spontaneous or ethological behaviors that can also serve as metrics of brain function. The beauty and strength of operant behaviors stems from the fact that they can be made extremely specific, allowing for the isolation of brain functions deemed especially important or noteworthy (i.e., visual discriminations, learning, time perception) and they can be generated at the will of the experimenter because their elicitation comes under strong stimulus control after appropriate training (i.e., the presence or absence of cue lights or tones can be used to indicate the availability of reinforcement and prompt subject participation). In order to maximize the value of the food reinforcers often used in such studies, and therefore maximize motivation and the likelihood that subjects will work toward obtaining them, it is imperative that access to food be strictly controlled. It is often necessary to individualize daily food allotments for each subject since animals tend to vary substantially in the amount of food needed to maintain appropriate body food-directed motivation. and young/developing rhesus monkeys we target a monthly weight gain of about 0.1 kg and provide daily rations to reach this target. If animals gain weight faster than desired, daily rations are decreased; if they don't gain weight fast enough, daily rations are increased. The quality of operant procedures to allow for precise scheduling of experimental events provides maximal efficiency of data collection. Operant tasks also lend themselves very nicely to automation: the NCTR OTB, for example, is completely computer-driven. This aspect of task administration not only frees up study personnel for other tasks, but also eliminates the potential confounding interactions that can occur between experimenters and subjects under circumstances where direct observations and/or other kinds

of human-animal interactions are part of the assessment. In addition, the automated nature of task administration and data collection eliminates subjective interpretation of responses and easily provides for repeated testing under identical conditions.

### 3.1. Functional Domains

As mentioned previously, operant behaviors can be highly specified. That is, very specific responses can be required for reinforcer delivery. Response rates can be reliably and predictably controlled by schedules of reinforcement (14). For example, very rapid response rates can be elicited by scheduling reinforcer delivery after some set number of responses (e.g., every 20 lever presses). Under such schedules, subjects tend to respond at high frequency in order to rapidly attain criteria for reinforcer delivery. This schedule is similar to that used when persons are paid by the job, rather than by the hour. Under fixed time schedules, responses are reinforced at only specific intervals (e.g., every 5 minutes). Under these schedules, subjects tend not to respond much, if at all, during the beginning of the interval, but as the interval progresses, response rates increase such that near the end of the interval, responding occurs at a very high rate. This schedule is similar to those operating in typical public transportation settings, for example: as the scheduled time of bus arrival nears, patrons spend an increasing amount of time focused on the direction from which the bus will come. In addition to precisely controlling response rates, reinforcement contingencies can also be used to train specific types of responses requiring subjects to solve specific problems. Several types of problem solving behaviors are modeled using the NCTR OTB.

Studies begun in the mid-1980s at the Food and Drug Administration's NCTR incorporated the OTB for use with laboratory rhesus monkeys. Initial OTB descriptions and drug effects can be found elsewhere (10-12).It has also been demonstrated that, in general, performance in each of the OTB tasks is not predictive of performance in any of the other OTB tasks: there is little correlation between performance in one task and performance of any of the others (9). This is important because it demonstrates that different brain functions subserve performance in each of the OTB tasks and verifies that each task is measuring something different than that which is measured in the other tasks. This is further demonstrated by the ability of a variety of psychotropic agents to rather selectively alter performance of one task and not others (9). In addition to being used in the studies to be reviewed here, the NCTR OTB has been used fairly extensively by us to develop a library of the acute effects of a variety of prototypic psychoactive compounds (see (9)). The specific brain functions thought to be modeled by performance of the NCTR OTB and the tasks utilized to assess are described here briefly.

### 3.1.1. Motivation

The NCTR OTB has incorporated a task specifically for the purpose of obtaining an assessment of behavior thought to be indicative of a subject's motivation to 'work' for the reinforcers being used (here they are

banana-flavored food pellets). Referred to as a Progressive Ratio task (initially described in (15-16)), responses are made on a single response lever and the number of lever presses required for reinforcer delivery (the response/reinforcer ratio) increases for each reinforcer. Thus, some small number of lever presses (e.g., 2) is required for the first food pellet while the next reinforcer 'costs' 4 lever presses, the next 6 and so on. In this manner, the work required for reinforcement can be ramped up in short order, providing metrics (response rates, number of reinforcers earned, etc.) of motivation.

### 3.1.2. Visual and Position Discrimination

To determine how well subjects can discriminate between different objects and make decisions based on those differences a Conditioned Position Responding Task using colored stimuli is employed. Here, three press-plates arranged in a horizontal line serve as manipulanda and, initially, a red, yellow, blue or green color is presented on the middle press-plate. Subjects indicate that they have seen the stimulus by pressing the illuminated plate after which it is immediately extinguished and the two side plates are illuminated white. If the middle press-plate had been red or yellow, then a left choice response is reinforced; if it had been blue or green, then a right choice response is reinforced. Task solution is relatively simple for most subjects, as evidenced by rapid responding and average choice accuracies of greater than 90%. Processes underlying these types of abilities are thought to reside in frontal-cortical brain areas (17-18).

### 3.1.3. Learning

The learning task used in the NCTR OTB is an Incremental Repeated Acquisition Task that is a modification of more traditional repeated acquisition procedures (19). Here subjects must repeatedly acquire knowledge in an incremental fashion. Four response levers (arranged in a horizontal plane) serve as the manipulanda and each test session starts with presentation of a one-lever response 'sequence': a response to the correct one of the four levers results in reinforcer delivery. After this sequence has been mastered, the sequence length (and presumably task difficulty) is incremented to a two-lever response sequence where the subject must learn which of the four levers is the 'new' lever for the 'incremented' sequence and remember to follow a response to it with a response to the correct lever from the previously learned one-lever 'sequence.' Once this two-lever sequence has been mastered, the response requirement is again incremented to a three-lever sequence and so on up to a sixlever sequence. Thus, in each test session, several learning curves are obtainable, one for each lever sequence length mastered and both accuracy and speed of task solution are captured. For those familiar with the children's game "Simon®", this task can be thought of as its monkey version. A key aspect of this task is that the correct sequence of lever presses changes every test session and, thus, the correct response sequence cannot be predicted from session to session. In addition, while there clearly is a short-term memory component to this task (subjects must recall which sequence they learned for the prior, shorter sequence in that same test session), the bulk of the errors

made during typical performance of this task are acquisition-type errors, i.e., those made during determination of which response represents the required incremented response.

### 3.1.4 Short-term Memory

For assessing processes associated with shortterm memory a Delayed Matching-to-Sample (DMTS) procedure is used (see (20) for a mini-review of experimental approaches to the study of short-term Each trial in the task begins with the illumination of the middle one of three press-plates (same manipulanda used for the color discrimination task described above). Stimuli are white-on-black geometric shapes and subjects acknowledge an initial 'sample' stimulus by pressing the illuminated plate after which it is immediately extinguished. Following a recall delay (e.g., from 1-32 seconds) that varies randomly, all three plates are illuminated, each with a different shape, only one of which 'matches' the 'sample' stimulus. A response to the 'matching' shape results in reinforcer delivery. Accuracy of matching after no or very short delays, i.e., with no or little opportunity to forget, is thought to represent a measure of an organism's ability to attend to the task and encode the information to be remembered and response accuracies at very short delays is typically quite high. As recall delay increases, response accuracy decreases, with the slope of the decrease in accuracy over time representing a memory decay or forgetting function. Unlike with the IRA task, here subjects are presented with the solution to the task (i.e., the sample stimulus), having only to recall (match) that solution when presented with choices after a recall delay.

### 3.1.5. Time perception

For the assessment of timing behavior, a Temporal Response Differentiation task is used (see (21) for a review of issues concerning experimental aspects of timing ability). This task requires subjects to press and hold a response lever in the depressed position for at least 10 but not more than 14 seconds. Thus, subjects must target a 4-second window of opportunity in order to obtain a reinforcer. The data obtained from this task include a variety of measures associated with the distribution of lever-hold durations (time production) which are typically characterized by Gaussian distributions. It is thought that the distribution means of 'timed' responses represent timing accuracy and that the spread or standard deviation of the distribution represents timing precision. Alterations in the characteristics of the response duration distribution are thought to provide insights into the mechanisms of timing such as the speed of an 'internal clock' (22).

### 4. RELEVANCE TO THE HUMAN EXPERIENCE

Data obtained from children performing these same NCTR OTB tasks (for nickel reinforcers instead of banana-flavored food pellets) have provided important comparative information. First, the OTB performance of children is, in most cases, indistinguishable from that of well-trained monkeys (23) and second, task performance is, in most cases, significantly correlated with IQ (24). A

notable exception to this generalization is performance of the motivation task: children with IQ scores of 70 to 130 all respond for nickels with equal vigor (24). Thus, the exact same testing instrument, the NCTR OTB, can be used in both humans and monkeys, allowing one to presumably study the same cognitive processes in both species. In addition, performance of some OTB tasks can serve as surrogates for typical paper and pencil IQ testing.

# 5. SPECIFIC EXAMPLES OF DERANGED BRAIN FUNCTION AFTER DEVELOPMENTAL DRUG EXPOSURES

### 5.1. Marijuana and Amotivation

To model human teenagers, rhesus monkeys 2 to 3 years of age were used as subjects to determine the effects of chronic marijuana (MJ) smoke exposure on complex brain function and structure (see (13) for study details). All subjects were trained to perform the NCTR OTB for one year prior to the onset of MJ smoke exposure. For most subjects, performance of each OTB task was stable enough during the last 3 months of the training year to be relatively predictable (i.e., 95% confidence intervals were reasonable). Exposures were effected with the use of a metered smoke generation system that delivered smoke via nose-mouth-only masks (modified infant anesthesia masks) and one-way inhalation valves to subjects (13). To minimize the acute effects of MJ smoke, daily exposures occurred right after behavioral assessments were complete; thus, subjects were behaviorally tested approximately 22-23 hours after their last exposure. Earlier studies on the acute effects of MJ smoke on OTB performance by rhesus monkeys (11) demonstrated that the short-term memory (DMTS) and timing (TRD) tasks were the most sensitive, followed by the learning (IRA) and color and position discrimination (CPR) tasks and then the motivation (PR) task. For the chronic studies, the four exposure groups (n = 15-16/group) included daily MJ smokers, weekend only MJ smokers, daily placebo MJ (marijuana extracted such that it did not contain any psychoactive active cannabinoids) smokers and daily sham exposures (fitted with exposure masks but exposed to room air only). One half of subjects were behaviorally assessed throughout the entire exposure phase (one year) of the study and for seven months following the last exposure. The other half was not behaviorally assessed during the year of exposure and for two months following cessation of exposure. For animals tested throughout the exposure phase, behavioral test sessions occurred just prior to daily exposures such that assessments occurred long after their last exposure. Again, this served to minimize the acute effects of MJ on behavior which can be substantial (11). The smoke from one MJ cigarette or one extracted MJ cigarette was administered during each exposure session.

Behavioral data for the twelve weeks immediately preceding the start of exposures served as 'Baseline' data allowing each animal to also serve as its own control. There were no differences in behavioral performance between any of the treatment groups prior to the start of treatment. For each task the effects of exposure and the effects of abrupt withdrawal from exposure were

determined. For the latter determination, data for the last 12 weeks of exposure served as the pre-withdrawal 'Baseline' data. Individual animal data were also examined to determine whether group effects were due to effects on specific individuals.

Over the entire year of exposure, subjects in both the sham and extracted MJ smoke (placebo) groups (the controls) exhibited steady increases in motivation task responding (increases in response rates, number of food pellets earned, etc.). At the end of the exposure year, these control subjects were putting forth about 3 times as much effort in this task as they were at the start of exposure. They were also putting forth significantly more effort than subjects in either the weekend or daily MJ smoke groups where the amount of effort remained virtually unchanged over the entire year. All measures of motivation behavior increased for both MJ groups during withdrawal beginning about one month after cessation of chronic smoke exposure and these increases stabilized about two to three months after the last exposure at levels that were no different from those for either of the control groups. Thus, during periods of active marijuana 'use' by 'teenage' monkeys either every day or just on weekends, an 'amotivational' syndrome was demonstrated and it took several months of abstinence for this condition to completely abate. In animals that were not behaviorally assessed during the year of exposure or for two months afterward, there was no evidence of a residual amotivational effect of treatment.

There were no systematic effects of chronic MJ smoke exposure on response rates or accuracies in the other OTB tasks. The percent of a given task that was completed during the timed behavioral sessions tended to be lower for the daily MJ smoke group but significant differences were rarely noted. Examination of individual subject data for the daily MJ group did reveal that one of the subjects suffered a substantial decrease in percent task completed in the color and position discrimination task starting about 3 months after daily exposure began. This subject alone accounted for a downward trend in performance of this task exhibited by the daily MJ group as a whole. Here, adverse performance was associated with decreased response speed but not in accuracy. Upon cessation of exposure, the behavior of this animal recovered substantially but never to pre-exposure levels. This observation demonstrates that certain individuals exhibit very different sensitivities to the effects of MJ.

The findings from the MJ study support the contention that chronic MJ use in humans can be associated with a syndrome of decreased motivation in humans. In humans, there is little experimental evidence to document an 'amotivational' effect of marijuana in adults (25-28); in fact the primary data supporting the occurrence of the syndrome in humans comes from studies where the subjects were teenagers or young adults (29-30). Thus, the use of a 'teenage' animal model in the present study may have maximized the likelihood of observing the syndrome. The increase in motivation behavior noted here began at about 3-4 years of age and appeared to be a developmental phenomenon. It is likely that this increase coincided with

the subjects' transition into or through puberty, which occurs at around 3.5 years of age in rhesus monkeys. The effect of MJ was to suppress this very slowly increasing expression of motivation. For these reasons, the phenomenon is likely to be very difficult to document in humans.

The finding that weekend only marijuana smoke exposure was sufficient to affect motivation was surprising and demonstrates that this effect occurs even with relatively infrequent exposures. Additionally, the effect was as large as that noted in animals exposed to MJ smoke every day. These observations suggest that there may be a slow accumulation of some compound (or metabolites) in MJ smoke that affects performance for an extended period of time. This latter suggestion is consistent with recent reports of a long half-life for THC in blood (31-32).

### 5.2. Cocaine

To model human pregnancies, young adult female rhesus monkeys were time-mated. Once pregnancy was confirmed (usually at about gestational day 35, see (33-35) for study details) chronic exposure to cocaine was begun and continued until birth. Initial treatment groups of 3 subjects each included 0.0, 1.0, and 3.0 mg cocaine hydrochloride (HCl) /kg/day, Monday through Friday, given in three divided intramuscular injections throughout These doses represent human equivalent exposures of about one-tenth to a quarter of a gram of cocaine HCl per day and the Monday through Friday dosing regimen served to model binge-use typical in humans. The intramuscular route provides plasma kinetics in the monkey that nicely model those seen after intranasal administration (snorting) in humans (33). Once it was clear that these initial doses did not adversely affect pregnancy outcome, an additional treatment group given escalating doses of cocaine was added to provide for even greater gestational exposures. For this group, the dose started at 1.0 mg/kg/injection given three times per day (3.0 mg/kg/day, same as the high dose group mentioned previously), Monday through Friday. The dose was then increased every two weeks throughout pregnancy by 0.5 mg cocaine/kg/injection. The escalating procedure was necessary to allow subjects to develop tolerance to the appetite-suppressing effects of cocaine and thus insure adequate nutrition throughout gestation. By the end of the pregnancy some subjects were receiving doses up to 8.5 mg/kg/injection or 25.5 mg/kg/day which are about the equivalent of 1.5 to 1.75 grams of cocaine HCl per day for a 70 kg human. While such amounts are relatively high for casual users, they are certainly not out of the ordinary for heavy users. Once it was demonstrated that this treatment regimen was also well tolerated, a larger group of 10 subjects began exposures for several weeks to months prior to mating to provide for total gestation exposure (35); doses were escalated as described above only after pregnancies had been detected. Since the focus of this study was to determine the effects of in utero cocaine exposure on the integrity of offspring brain function, no exposures occurred after birth. No significant effects of exposure were found on body weights of either infants or mothers in the smaller groups of three (although there was a dose-related trend

toward decreased body weights in offspring). However, in the total gestational exposure group, the treated animals weighed significantly less and were of smaller stature (decreased overall length and crown circumference) at birth than controls (35): similar findings have been reported in the literature for children exposed to cocaine during gestation. Infants remained with their natural mothers until weaning at six months of age at which time they were singly housed and began OTB training. Metrics of acquisition of OTB responding were monitored for over a year and no exposure-related effects on response acquisition were observed (34).

### **5.2.1. Pharmacological Challenges**

Over the next six years, a number of pharmacological challenges were carried out in these offspring to determine whether alterations in specific neurotransmitter systems might have been caused by gestational cocaine exposure (see (36) for timeline of drug studies). In particular, the focus was on the dopamine system, with which cocaine is known to interact to cause its typical effects. Dose-response curves for OTB performance were obtained for cocaine and amphetamine (another dopaminergic agent), the somewhat selective dopamine (D2) receptor antagonist haloperidol, the dopamine1 (D1) receptor antagonist SCH-23390, the D2/D3 agonist, quinpirole, and the D2 antagonist, spiperone. In addition, the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) glutamate receptor channel blocker, MK-801 (see Table 1 in (36) for details) was also tested since the excitatory glutamate system is thought to be important in the development of long-term potentiation (LTP) and this process is thought to be critical for the expression of learning. In these acute drug challenge studies, no differences in drug sensitivities were noted among the smaller treatment groups. However, data are now becoming available for the larger, total gestational exposure group where a preliminary report describes that the cocaine-exposed animals are significantly less sensitive to the behaviorally-disruptive effects of cocaine at around 6 vears of age (37). In these studies, intravenous cocaine administration significantly disrupted performance of a time estimation task in control subjects at a dose (1.0 mg/kg) that had no effect on responding in animals exposed to cocaine throughout the whole of gestation. These observations suggest that long-term or permanent alterations in brain sensitivity may be effected by developmental drug exposures. Since others have shown that very similar in utero cocaine exposure regimens in monkeys alter the normal migration pattern of dopaminergic neurons in brain (38-40), it is perhaps not surprising that such changes can manifest as functional differences.

## 5.2.2. Age-related sensitivity to dopaminergic compounds

One very interesting finding obtained during the acute drug challenge experiments was the discovery that, irrespective of treatment group, monkeys become increasingly sensitive with maturity to the behavioral effects of cocaine (41-42). For example, young animals (~1.5 years old) are 10 to 30 times less sensitive to an intravenous injection of cocaine than are adults (~10-11

years old) and juveniles (~3 years old) are intermediate in sensitivity. These observations of drug effects on performance of the motivation task clearly demonstrate that the young primate brain is very much different from the mature primate brain in its susceptibility to the actions of cocaine. Subsequent studies showing similar age-related sensitivities to both amphetamine and methylphenidate suggest that this phenomenon likely relates to the maturation of the dopaminergic system (43). maturation and blossoming of the dopaminergic system and related physiology may have important implications for the abuse of these drugs since children do not tend to abuse these substances, certainly not to the degree seen in older subjects. In addition, it is possible that any altered function of the dopamine system that may be caused by in utero exposure to cocaine may not manifest until that system attempts to transition to adult functional status later in life.

### **5.2.3. Behavioral Rigidity**

The lack of findings of any effects of in utero exposure to cocaine on the ability of subjects to learn to perform the OTB tasks seems remarkable in light of the recent findings that prenatal cocaine exposure alters the development of the rhesus monkey frontal cortex (39-40) and affects development of dopamine neurons (44-46), as well as expression of dynorphin and enkephalin mRNA in fetal rhesus monkey brain (47). The highly practiced operant tasks for food reinforcement were either insensitive to the effects of in utero cocaine exposure or these assessments occurred too early in the life of the animals to show effects. Reversal procedures have been extensively used to examine the extinction of a previously learned behavior and the acquisition of a new behavior (48-51) and are thought to provide a greater behavioral challenge than initial acquisition because the new behavior to be learned in such cases also involves the extinction of a previously learned response. Therefore, a behavioral challenge was employed in our studies wherein the rules of the OTB's color and position discrimination task were 'reversed' and subjects' adaptation to the new situation was monitored (see (36) for study details). Here, instead of a left position response being correct after presentation of a red or yellow color and a right position response being correct after presentation of a blue or green color, the correct positions were reversed: a right position response was now reinforced (correct) after presentation of red or yellow and a left position response was now correct after presentation of blue or green. This behavioral challenge, or reversal, occurred when the animals were seven years of age. As expected, all animals initially showed impaired reversal performance and all were relatively slow in adapting their behavior to match the new rules of reinforcement (as part of the OTB, this task is presented for only five minutes every other test day; thus, in any given two week period the animals have a maximum of only 25 minutes to practice). All cocaine exposed groups performed more poorly (took more sessions to attain or never attained pre-reversal type responding) than did the saline control animals. Animals from the escalating dose group continued to show this impairment for over 285 sessions (about 2 and one half years). In fact, these subjects improved only up to the point of obtaining reinforcers by chance (ca. 50% choice

accuracy), suggesting that the escalating dosing regimen produced very long lasting, if not permanent, impairments in the behavioral ability of these subjects. The number of sessions required by subjects in the other exposure groups to master the reversal indicated that in utero cocaine exposure caused dose-related difficulties in behavioral adaptation (36). Motoric abilities were not affected since rates of responding were not systematically affected by gestational cocaine exposure. Thus, the noted effects seem to reflect an inability of subjects to extinguish a heavily over practiced behavior and/or adapt to new task rules. Although there were very few subjects in this study, the results were striking. The effects occurred long after exposure ceased (7 years) and were evident in some cases for another 2 ½ years when the observations were terminated. These findings are similar to those described for rats exposed to cocaine prenatally which have difficulty in performing serial reversal and extradimensional set shifting tasks (52).

### **5.3. Remacemide**

Remacemide is a compound that exhibits neuroprotective and anticonvulsant properties and has proven effective as an adjunct to other anti-epileptic drugs in reducing the frequency of seizures in adult humans (53). The mechanisms thought to underlie its neuroactive properties involve its non-competitive antagonism of Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors and blocking of fast sodium channels. The NMDA receptor is an important target for excitatory amino acid binding and participates in the neural phenomenon of long term potentiation or LTP (54) which is characterized as an increase in synaptic efficiency (55-56). LTP is generally believed to be intimately involved with learning and memory processes (57). In addition to their roles in learning and memory processes, excitatory amino acids play important roles during development by regulating neuronal survival, structure, synaptogenesis and plasticity (58). Thus, if remacemide was to be used chronically in children, it was important to explore the consequences of such exposure on the development and expression of important brain functions such as learning and memory. Observations in humans have indicated marked differences in excitatory amino acid receptor sites from newborns to adults in the 10th decade of life (59-62)) and have led to the speculation that young brains may be more responsive to agents that affect NMDA receptors than are older brains (60).

Our studies of remacemide (detailed in (63-65)) examined in the rhesus monkey model, the developmental effects of chronic administration of remacemide or the classical, non-competitive NMDA receptor antagonist MK-801, on the acquisition of NCTR OTB performance. The emphasis here was on the ability of subjects to learn to perform OTB tasks. In these studies, treatment occurred throughout the training or acquisition of task performance rather than starting and stopping long before training began. This design was used in order to model potential human pediatric consumption, e.g., for the treatment of seizure disorders, in order to determine if such treatment might be associated with risks to normal development. Low and high doses of both drugs (20 and 50 mg/kg/day,

remacemide; 0.1 and 1.0 mg/kg/day, MK-801) were administered daily via oral gavage beginning at about 9 months of age and the ability of subjects to acquire task performance was monitored. Drugs were administered within one hour after behavioral test sessions ended; administration of drugs after daily behavioral assessment (rather than before) again served to minimize the impact of acute drug effects and allow analyses to focus on the long-term developmental effects of treatment. The OTB behaviors that were monitored included: Incremental Repeated Acquisition (IRA) for learning; Delayed Matching-to-Sample (DMTS) for short-term memory; Conditioned Position Responding (CPR) for color and position discrimination; and Progressive Ratio (PR) for appetitive motivation.

### **5.3.1.** Chemically-induced mental retardation

The most striking finding of these studies was that chronic treatment with the high dose of remacemide virtually prevented the ability of subjects' to learn how to perform the learning (IRA) task: virtually no increase in response accuracy could be demonstrated after 18 months of training during treatment. Chronic treatment with the low dose of remacemide or with either dose of MK-801 was without effect in this regard. Neither compound significantly altered response rates in this task, suggesting that the effects of high dose remacemide resulted from a specific cognitive impairment (impaired acquisition of task problem solution) rather than from or in addition to an inability of subjects to fulfill the motoric requirements of the task. This effect on learning task performance was further dramatized by a number of other observations that included the failure of the behavior of affected subjects to ever resemble that of control (or any other group) subjects; even 6 months after cessation of treatment: learning task behavior of the high dose remacemide animals was virtually no different from that observed at the beginning of training. While there was a significant effect of high dose remacemide to considerably retard the acquisition of color and position discrimination task performance, animals in this group were able to perform this task as well as all other groups by the end of treatment (64). There was no notable effect of high dose remacemide on the acquisition of the two other OTB tasks (motivation and short-term memory). And perhaps most importantly there was no effect of any drug treatment (remacemide or MK-801) on metrics typically employed in routine toxicity tests (clinical and hematological measures; chemistry general comportment; ophthalmology; spontaneous activity; pharmacokinetics, etc., (65). Thus, had only routine toxicity testing occurred, there would have been no indication whatsoever that remacemide could, under certain circumstances, be problematic.

Given the differential pharmacology of these drugs, it is likely that the effects of remacemide on learning task performance resulted either from its ancillary activity at fast sodium channels or from its effects to block NMDA receptors and sodium channels concurrently. While a role for sodium channel blockade in the effects of remacemide seems likely, it is also possible that, relative to MK-801, its effects resulted in part from its metabolism to an active

desglycinated moiety that has an even greater affinity for the NMDA receptor than does remacemide. Thus, although the time courses for the parent compounds MK-801 and remacemide are similar, the presence of an active remacemide metabolite should result in longer inactivation of NMDA receptors than that which occurs after MK-801 treatment. This difference in functional NMDA receptor blockade may account for the noted differences in toxicity. Irrespective of mechanism(s), the ability of chronic remacemide exposure during development to selectively and apparently permanently ablate the ability of nonhuman primate subjects to acquire performance of a learning task is remarkable. Given that, in children, performance of this same task is significantly correlated with IO (24), it seems reasonable to conclude that remacemide produced mental retardation in this group of primates. Whether similar findings would have been observed if exposures had occurred at a different period of development or in adult subjects is currently unknown, but the answer to such questions could prove to be very enlightening.

### 6. PERSPECTIVES

Three different examples of studies in nonhuman primates have been presented in which chronic drug exposures during development resulted in altered functional states of the central nervous system. In some cases, the effects were reversible (marijuana smoke exposure during adolescence) and in others, they were not (in utero cocaine exposure; juvenile exposure to remacemide). Nonhuman primates are, in most cases, likely to be the best animal surrogates for humans and should be employed when answers to important public health issues are needed. Utilizing assessment tools such as the automated Operant Test Battery that was featured in the studies described here provides the opportunity to repeatedly assess the functional status of the nervous system within the same subject. Collection of data using behavioral instruments that can also be used with human subjects provides opportunity for cross-species comparisons and for determining the human relevance of such measures.

### 7. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author wishes to acknowledge the long-standing, enthusiastic support of the Division of Neurotoxicology at the FDA's National Center for Toxicological Research and specifically the support of Division Director Dr. William Slikker, Jr., without whose support these studies simply would not have been possible.

### 8. REFERENCES

- 1. Bandstra, E.S., G. Burkett: Maternal-fetal and neonatal effects of in-utero cocaine exposure. *Semin Perinat* 15, 288-301 (1991)
- 2. Day, N.L., N. Robles: Methodological issues in the measurement of substance abuse. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 562, 8-13 (1989)
- 3. Lindenberg, C.S., E.M. Alexander, S.C. Gendrop, M. Nencioli, D.G. Williams: A review of the literature on

- cocaine abuse in pregnancy. Nurs Res 40, 69-75 (1991)
- 4. Nair, B.S., R.R. Watson: Cocaine and the pregnant woman. *J Reprod Med* 36, 862-867 (1991)
- 5. Slutsker, L.: Risks associated with cocaine use during pregnancy. *Obstet Gynecol* 79, 778-789 (1992)
- 6. CA Chiriboga: Neurological Correlates of Fetal Cocaine Exposure. In: Cocaine: Effects on the Developing Brain. Eds. Harvey, J.A., Kosofsky, B.E., *Ann NY Acad Sci* 846, 109-125 (1998)
- 7. Richardson, G.A.: Prenatal Cocaine Exposure: A Longitudinal Study of Development. In: Cocaine: Effects on the Developing Brain. Eds. Harvey, J.A., Kosofsky, B.E., *Ann NY Acad Sci* 846, 144-152 (1998)
- 8. Evans, H.L.: Nonhuman primates in behavioral toxicology: issues of validity, ethics and public health. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* 12, 531-536 (1990)
- 9. Paule, M.G.: Validation of a behavioral test battery for monkeys. In: Methods of Behavioral Analysis in Neuroscience. Ed. Buccafusco, J.J., CRC Press LLC, Boca Raton, FL 281-294 (2001)
- 10. Schulze, G.E., D.E. McMillan, J.R. Bailey, A. Scallet, S.F. Ali, W. Slikker, M.G. Paule: Acute effects of delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol in rhesus monkeys as measured by performance in a battery of complex operant tests. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 245, 178-186 (1988)
- 11. Schulze, G.E., D.E. McMillan, J.R Bailey, A. Scallet, S.F. Ali, W. Slikker, M.G. Paule: Effects of marijuana smoke on complex operant behavior in rhesus monkeys. *Life Sci*, 45, 465-475 (1989)
- 12. Paule, M. G., G.E. Schulze, W. Slikker, Jr.: Complex brain function in monkeys as a baseline for studying the effects of exogenous compounds. *Neurotoxicology* 9, 463-470 (1988)
- 13. Paule, M.G., R.R. Allen, J.R. Bailey, A.C. Scallet, S.F. Ali, R.M. Brown, W. Slikker: Chronic marijuana smoke exposure in the rhesus monkey II: Effects on progressive ratio and conditioned position responding. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 260, 210-222 (1992)
- 14. Ferster, C.B., B.F. Skinner: In: Schedules of reinforcement. Eds. Ferster, C. B., Skinner, B.F., Cambridge Publication, Cambridge, MA (1957)
- 15. Hodos, W.: Progressive ratio as a measure of reward strength. *Science* 134, 943-944 (1961)
- 16. Hodos, W., G. Kalman: Effects of increment size and reinforcer volume on progressive ratio performance. *J Exp Anal Behav* 6, 387-392 (1963)
- 17. Goldman, P. S., H.E. Rosvold, M. Mishkin: Selective sparing of function following prefrontal lobectomy in infant monkeys. *Exp Neurol* 29, 221-226 (1970)

- 18. Kojima, S., M. Kojima, P.S. Goldman-Rakic: Operant behavioral analysis of memory loss in monkeys with prefrontal lesions. *Brain Res* 248, 51-59 (1982)
- 19. Cohn, J., M.G. Paule: Repeated acquisition: the analysis of behavior in transition. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 19, 397-406 (1995)
- 20. Paule, M. G., P.J. Bushnell, J.P.J. Maurissen, G.R Wenger, J.J. Buccafusco, J. J. Chelonis, R. Elliott: Symposium overview: the use of delayed matching-to-sample procedures in studies of short-term memory in animals and humans. *Neurotox Teratol* 20, 493-502 (1998)
- 21. Paule, M. G., W.H. Meck, D.E. McMillan, G.Y.H. McClure, M. Bateson, E.J. Popke, J.J. Chelonis, S.C. Hinton: Symposium overview: the use of timing behaviors in animals and humans to detect drug and/or toxicant effects. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* 21, 491-502 (1999)
- 22. Meck, W. H.: Neuropharmacology of timing and time percepti**Bnul£***o***ξh**e effect of chronic cocaine exposure throughout *Brain Res* 3, 227-242 (1996) pregnancy on maternal and infant outcomes in the rhesus
- 23. Paule, M. G., T.M. Forrester, M.A. Maher, J.M. Cranmer, R.R. Allen: Monkey versus human performance in the NCTR operant test battery. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* 12, 503-507 (1990)
- 24. Paule, M.G., J.J. Chelonis, E.A. Buffalo, D.J. Blake, P.H. Casey: Operant test battery performance in children: correlation with IQ. *Neurotox Teratol* 21, 223-230 (1999)
- 25. Brill, N.Q., E. Crumpton, H.M. Grayson: Personality factors in marijuana use: a preliminary report. *Arch Gen Psychiat* 24, 163-165 (1971)
- 26. Brill, N.Q., R.L. Christie: Marijuana use and psychosocial adaptation: follow-up study of a collegiate population. *Arch Gen Psychiat* 31, 713-719 (1974)
- 27. Carter, W.E., P.L. Doughty: Social and cultural aspects of cannabis use in Costa Rica. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 282, 2-16 (1976)
- 28. Comitas, L.: Cannabis and work in Jamaica: A refutation of the amotivational syndrome. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 282, 24-32 (1976)
- 29. Lantner, I.L.: Marijuana use by children and teenagers: A pediatrician's view. In. Marijuana and youth: Clinical observations on motivation and learning. DHHS Publication No. ADM 82-1186. US Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 84-92 (1982)
- 30. Smith, D.E.: Acute and chronic toxicity of marijuana. *J Psychedelic Drugs* 2, 37-47 (1968)
- 31. Johansson, E., S. Agurell, L.E. Hollister, M.M. Halldin: Prolonged apparent half-life of delta-1-tetrahydrocannabinol in plasma of chronic marijuana users. *J Pharm Pharmacol* 40, 374-375 (1988)

- 32. Johansson, E., J. Sjovall, K. Noren, S. Agurell, L.E. Hollister, M.M. Halldin: Analysis of delta-1-tetrahydrocannabinol (delta-1-THC) in human plasma and fat after smoking. In Marijuana: An International Research Report. Eds. Chester, G., Consroe, P. Musty, Australian Government Publication Service, Canberra, 291-296 (1988)
- 33. P. Morris, Z. Binienda, M.P. Gillam, M.R. Harkey, C. Zhou, G.L. Henderson, M.G. Paule: The effect of chronic cocaine exposure during pregnancy on maternal and infant outcomes in the rhesus monkey. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* 18, 147-154 (1996)
- 34. P. Morris, M.P. Gillam, R.R. Allen, M.G. Paule: The effects of chronic cocaine exposure during pregnancy on the acquisition of operant behaviors by rhesus monkey offspring. *Neurotox Teratol* 18, 155-166 (1996)
- 35. P. Morris, Z. Binienda, M.P. Gillam, J. Klein, K. McMartin, G. Koren, H.M. Duhart, W. Slikker Jr., M.G. eptiBnul€oghe effect of chronic cocaine exposure throughout pregnancy on maternal and infant outcomes in the rhesus monkey. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* 19, 47-57 (1997)
  - 36. Chelonis, J.J., M.P. Gillam, M.G Paule: The Effects of Prenatal Cocaine Exposure on Reversal Learning Using a Simple Visual Discrimination Task in Rhesus Monkeys. *Neurotox Teratol* 25, 437-446 (2003)
  - 37. Paule, M.G., M.P. Gillam, S.A. Graham, J.J. Chelonis: Exposure of rhesus monkeys to cocaine throughout gestation results in decreased sensitivity to cocaine in adulthood: effects of cocaine on timing behavior. In press, The Toxicologist, 2005.
  - 38. M.S. Lidow: Nonhuman primate model of the effect of prenatal cocaine exposure on cerebral cortical development. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 846, 182-193 (1998)
  - 39. M.S. Lidow, Z.M. Song: Primates exposed to cocaine in utero display reduced density and number of cerebral cortical neurons. *J Compar Neurol* 453, 263-275 (2001)
  - 40. M.S. Lidow, Z.M. Song: Effect of cocaine on cell proliferation in the cerebral wall of monkey fetuses. *Cereb Cortex* 11, 545-551 (2001)
  - 41. M.G. Paule, M.P. Gillam, R.R. Allen, P. Morris: Age-dependent effects of cocaine on several complex behaviors in rhesus monkeys. *Soc Neurosci Abs* 21, 707 (1995)
  - 42. M.G. Paule, M.P. Gillam, P. Morris: The effects of cocaine on nonhuman primate brain function are age-dependent. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 844, 178-182 (1998)
  - 43. P. Morris, M. Gillam, S. Lensing, R.R. Allen, G.E. Schulze, M.G. Paule: Age-dependent effects of amphetamine on several complex behaviors in rhesus monkeys, *Soc Neurosci Abs* 22, 705 (1996)
  - 44. W.S. Choi, O.K. Ronnekleiv: Effects of *in utero* cocaine exposure on the expression of mRNAs encoding

- the dopamine transporter and the D1, D2 and D5 dopamine receptor subtypes in fetal rhesus monkey. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* 96, 249-260 (1996)
- 45. O.K. Ronnekleiv, Y. Fang, W.S. Choi, L. Chai: Changes in the Midbrain-Rostral Forebrain Dopamine Circuitry in the Cocaine-Exposed Primate Fetal Brain. In: Cocaine: Effects on the Developing Brain. Eds. Harvey, J.A. Kosofsky, B.E. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 846, 165-181 (1998)
- 46. O.K. Ronnekleiv, B.R. Naylor: Chronic cocaine exposure in the fetal rhesus monkey: consequences for early development of dopamine neurons. *J Neurosci* 15, 7330-7343
- 47. Chai, L., W.S. Choi, O.K. Ronnekleiv: Maternal cocaine treatment alters dynorphin and enkephalin mRNA expression in brains of fetal rhesus macaques. *J Neurosci* 17, 1112-1121 (1997)
- 48. Hilson, J.A., B.J. Strupp: Analyses of response patterns clarify lead effects in olfactory reversal and extradimensional shift tasks: assessment of inhibitory control, associative ability, and memory. *Behav Neurosci* 111, 532-542 (1997)
- 49. Li, L., J. Shao: Restricted lesions to ventral prefrontal subareas bock reversal learning but not visual discrimination learning in rats. *Physiol Behav* 65, 371-379 (1998)
- 50. Means, L.W., R.D. Holsten: Individual aged rats are impaired on repeated reversal due to loss of different behavioral patterns. *Physiol Behav* 52, 959-963 (1992)
- 51. Schmajuk, N.A., H.T. Blair: Time, Space, and the Hippocampus. In. Neurobehavioral Plasticity. Eds. Spear, N.E., Spear, L.P., Woodruff, M.L., Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Hillsdale New Jersey 33-56 (1995)
- 52. Garavan, H., R.E. Morgan, C.F. Mactutus, D.A. Levitsky, R.M. Booze, B.J. Strupp: Prenatal cocaine exposure impairs selective attention: evidence from serial reversal and extradimensional shift tasks. *Behav Neurosci* 114, 725-738 (2000)
- 53. Crawford, P., A. Richens, G. Mawer, P. Cooper, J.B. Hutchinson: A double-blind placebo-controlled crossover study of remacemide hydrochloride on adjunct therapy in patients with refractory epilepsy. *Epilepsy* 1, 7-17 (1992)
- 54. Collingridge, G.L., S.J. Kehl, H. McLennan: Excitatory amino acids in synaptic transmission in the Schaffer collateral-commissural pathway of the rat hippocampus. *J Physiol* 334, 33-46 (1983)
- 55. Collingridge, G.L., R.A.J. Lester: Excitatory amino acid receptors in the vertebrate central nervous system. *Pharm Rev* 40, 143-210 (1989)
- 56. Tomita, J., Y. Shibata, T. Sakurai, Y. Okada: Involvement of a protein kinase C-dependent process in long-term

- potentiation formation in guinea pig superior colliculus slices. *Brain Res* 536, 146-152 (1990)
- 57. Huang, E.P., C.E. Stevens: The matter of mind: molecular control of memory. *Essays Biochem* 33, 165-178 (1998)
- 58. McDonald, J.W., M.V. Johnston: Excitatory amino acid neurotoxicity in the developing brain. *NIDA Research Monograph* 133, 185-205 (1993)
- 59. Court, J.A., E.K. Perry, M. Johnson, M.A. Piggott, J.A. Kerwin, R.H. Perry, P.G. Ince: Regional patterns of cholinergic and glutamate activity in the developing and aging human brain. *Devel Brain Res* 71, 73-82 (1993)
- 60. D'Souza, S.W., S.E. McConnell, P. Slater, A.J. Barson: N-methyl-D-aspartate binding sites in neonatal and adult brain. *Lancet* 339, 1240 (1992)
- 61. Johnson, M., E.K. Perry, P.G. Ince, P.J. Shaw, R.H. Perry: Autoradiographic comparison of the distribution of (3H) MK801 and (3H) CNQX in the human cerebellum during development and aging. *Brain Res* 615, 259-266 (1993)
- 62. Slater, P., S.E. McConnell, S.W. D'Souza, A.J. Barson: Postnatal changes in N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor binding and stimulation by glutamate and glycine of (3H)-MK-801 binding in human temporal cortex. *Brit J Pharmacol* 108, 1143-1149 (1993)
- 63. Popke, E. J., R.R. Allen, E.C. Pearson, T.G. Hammond, M.G. Paule: Differential effects of two NMDA receptor antagonists on cognitive-behavioral development in non-human primates II. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* 23, 333-347 (2001)
- 64. Popke, E. J., R.R. Allen, E.C. Pearson, T.G. Hammond, M.G. Paule: Differential effects of two NMDA receptor antagonists on cognitive-behavioral development in non-human primates I. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* 23, 319-332 (2001)
- 65. Popke, E.J., R. Patton, G.D. Newport, L.D. Rushing, R.R. Allen, E.C. Pearson, T.G. Hammond, M.G. Paule: Assessing the potential toxicity of mk-801 and remacemide: chronic exposure in juvenile rhesus monkeys. *Neurotox Teratol.* 24, 193-207 (2002)
- **Key Words:** Rhesus Monkeys, Operant Behavior, Cognitive Function, Comparative Psychology, Intelligence, Animal-To-Human Extrapolation, Drug Exposure During Developmental, Behavioral Toxicology, Behavioral Teratology, Developmental Toxicology, Central Nervous System, Review
- Send correspondence to: Merle G. Paule, Ph.D., Head, Behavioral Toxicology Laboratories, Division of Neurotoxicology, HFT-132, National Center for Toxicological Research, 3900 NCTR Road, Jefferson, Arkansas 72079-9502, Tel: 870-543-7147/7203, Fax: 870-543-7181/7745, E-mail: mpaule@nctr.fda.gov

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol10.htm